72049-0

72049-0

NO. 72049-0

COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I
STATE OF WASHINGTON

THOMAS BARTH and SANDRA A. BARTH,
his wife,

Respondents,

v.

PATRICK HAFEY and GINA LORAE HAFEY,
his wife,
Defendants

and

AMERICAN PENSION SERVICES, INC.,

*Defendant and
Petitioner.*

2014 JUL -9 PM 1:36

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I
STATE OF WASHINGTON

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

Robert H. Stevenson WSBA 519
Attorney for Petitioner
810 Third Ave #228
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 682-3624
Facries789@aol.com

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is from a final Order of Distribution arising from a Partition Sale. No referee was appointed. CP 1.

On July 9, 2009, Tammy Hafey was divorced from Patrick Hafey. There were not enough liquid assets to divide equally, and the Court awarded Tammy a money judgment against Patrick for \$150,000.00. The judgment is commonly referred to as an owelty equitable lien. It was secured by a note and deed of trust on the family home and called for full payment within 2 years. CP 7, 12, 54.

On October 14, 2009, Tammy sought help to collect her judgment and assigned it to American Pension Services, Inc. for this purpose. American held the judgment as part of a self-directed federal pension plan for Manfred Scharig, an individual. This type of arrangement is authorized under Section 408 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Patrick Hafey failed to make his judgment payments and the first and second home mortgages were foreclosed for their non-payment. Out of the foreclosure sale proceeds, American collected \$44,253.00 based upon the Hafey judgment. CP 50, 7.

Sandra Barth and Patrick Hafey are brother and sister. Their mother died in August of 2002 and left her home to Sandra and Patrick as

tenants in common. Patrick lived a short time in the home after his mother's death. CP 1.

On August 31, 2012, Sandra filed a petition for partition of the property and division of the proceeds. She asked for ejectment of her brother from the home and repayment of the repairs and upkeep of the property. American joined in the partition seeking payment of its judgment balance from any sales proceeds. CP 1.

The sale proceeds came to \$219,348.07. CP 55, 34, 44. Sandra offered to pay American \$3,646.74 as the share Hafey was entitled to, after all offsets by Sandra. Appendix A, CP 53. At a court hearing on the distribution of the \$219,348.07, the court found that the owelty judgment of Hafey did not legally reach any of the proceeds and refused to award the \$3,646.74 to American. CP 53.

Several days later, however, the Court changed its mind and signed an Amended Order to Disburse which awarded the \$3,646.74 to American. CP 55. The Court refused to give the owelty judgment priority over Sandra's claimed offsets. It also awarded a rent offset to Sandra for possession by Patrick and permitted Sandra to offset all of the claimed money spent in connection with the sale. CP 55, 57.

In sum, out of a total of \$109,674.03, representing Patrick Hafey's one half of the total proceeds of sale of \$219,348.07, Hafey received a total of \$3,646.74 – 3.3%.

This appeal followed. CP 56.

III. ARGUMENT

A. AN OWELTY JUDGMENT CANNOT BE IMPAIRED BY PARTITION AND HAS PRIORITY OVER ALL OTHER CLAIMS TO PROCEEDS FROM A SALE IN PARTITION.

RCW 7.52.220 provides the manner in which partition proceeds of sale shall be divided by priority:

- (a) general costs of the action;
- (b) sales costs;
- (c) liens in order of priority;
- (d) balance to the owners.

RCW 4.56.190 provides that all judgments are liens on all real estate a judgment debtor may acquire:

The real estate of any judgment debtor, and such as the judgment debtor may acquire, not exempt by law, shall be held bound to satisfy any judgment of..... the Superior Court.....of this state. (Emphasis Added)

Valid judgment liens cannot be impaired by partition of a co-tenancy.

Reed v. Fidelity Ins. Trust, 6A.163, 113 Pa. 574; Smith v. Smith, 42 Pac

2nd 436 206 Okl. 206; Pace v. Shields, 92 SE 755, 147 Ga. 36; 68 CJS, Partition, § 252; Stewart v. Alleghany National Bank, 101 Pa. 342 (1882).

In Reed, a Mr. Egner owned an undivided interest of 1/7 in a parcel of land. He mortgaged his 1/7 interest and later brought an action for partition. The property was sold to Mr. Reed and charged by the court with an owelty of \$4,796, payable to Egner. The mortgage company, Fidelity Ins. Trust, paid Egner the entire sum due him and took an assignment of the purchaser's interest. The monies owed by Egner were ordered to be paid into court to allow Fidelity to receive the funds due to it. The case illustrates the rule that a partition is not permitted to trump owelty monies due, ahead of other priorities in a partition.

Similarly, Alleghany National Bank, protected owelty liens against claimed priority offsets to sales proceeds in partition. In this case, a father and son owned a 50 – 50 interest in real property as co-tenants. The father died, leaving his 50% to his co-tenant son and four other children. His 50% son placed a mortgage on his interest. That interest and mortgage was later assigned to the Alleghany Bank. The mortgage went into default and was foreclosed by the bank. The 50% son brought an action for partition of the property. Eva Stewart purchased the property on the partition sale and made a claim for all rents from the

property that had been collected by the bank. At distribution of the sale proceeds, the Court held that as a matter of law that the mortgage was an owelty lien and entitled to full payment prior to any other claims to the proceeds.

In Washington, our Court has addressed an owelty lien in a like manner. Hartley v. Liberty Park, 54 Wash. App. 434, 774 P.2d 40 (1989).

Hartley dealt with an owelty lien of \$40,000.00 awarded in a divorce. The wife was awarded the house and promptly borrowed \$120,000.00 from a bank on it, secured by a deed of trust. The bank recorded its deed of trust on May 2, 1986. The wife then secured a second loan with another deed of trust on May 5, 1986, from Liberty Park. The wife, at the request of her former husband, signed a deed of trust for him in July of 1986. The wife defaulted on her payments under an Alaska's teacher's note, culminating in a nonjudicial foreclosure of the property. A surplus from the foreclosure sale of \$52,646 was deposited into the registry of the Court.

The husband, and the two separate mortgagees, all claimed the surplus proceeds. The trial court awarded them to the husband as superior to the interest of the two banks. It was affirmed on appeal. On appeal, the Court found that the owelty judgment had priority over the

homestead act, and created a lien against a judgment debtor's nonexempt real property.

A judgment granted by a superior court creates a lien against the judgment debtor's nonexempt real property. RCW 4.56.190.

The Court found also that the Superior Court had the family home before it for partitioning. RCW 26.09.050:

A judgment for owelty is an equitable lien in the nature of a vendor's lien, which will prevail over a declaration of homestead.....An award of owelty will become a lien on partitioned property as established in RCW 4.56.190.
(Emphasis Added).

Based upon the foregoing, it was reversal error for the trial court to fail to give priority under RCW 7.52.220 and RCW 4.56.190 to Hafey's real property interest.

B. A CO-TENANT IS ENTITLED TO OCCUPY THE PREMISES AND CANNOT BE CHARGED RENT FOR MERE USE THE PROPERTY BY A CO-TENANT.

The trial court initially refused to allow any monies to be paid to American out of the sales proceeds, even though Barth recognized and agreed to pay \$3,646.74.

Upon further reflection, the trial court issued an Amended Order awarding \$3,646.74 to American, and recognizing Hafey's interest.

The trial court wrongly charged American for possession of the property by Patrick Hafey in the amount of \$30,653.63. In absence of an agreement, one co-tenant cannot charge another co-tenant rent for the possession and occupancy. Cummings v. Anderson, 94 Wash 2nd 135, 614 Pac. 2d 1283 (1980). In a co-tenancy, both tenants are entitled to possession of a moiety of the whole, not the whole of the moiety. Fulton v. Fulton, 57 Wash. 2d 336; Leake v. Hayes, 13 Wash. 213, 43 Pac. 48 (1895); Daniel v. Daniel, 106 Wash. 659, 181 Pac. 2d 215 (1919); Kahnovsky v. Kahnovsky, 67 R.I. 208, 21 A2d 569 (1941).

In Cummings, a man and wife purchased a residence together as tenants in common. Each owed the balance of the purchase price. The parties were later divorced and the husband remained in the home and made house payments. The wife left the home and brought an action for partition alleging she was a co-tenant and entitled to offset her

husband's duty to pay rent for his possession during his occupancy and before the property was sold. The Court disallowed the offset:

It is the rule in Washington that in the absence of an agreement to pay rent....a co-tenant in possession, who has not ousted or actively excluded the co-tenant, is not liable for rent based on his occupancy of the premises.

Accord: Hunter v. Schultz, 24 Cal App. 2d 24 (1966). (Disallows rent claimed in a partition like Washington).

C. THE COURT WAS IN ERROR WHEN IT PERMITTED BARTH TO OFFSET THE ENTIRE "ENHANCEMENT" AND REPAIR COSTS OF \$53,700.00 AGAINST AMERICAN'S CLAIM

Partition is an equitable proceeding. A court of equity may equitably consider improvements placed on the property that enhances the value in a partition action. Blackwell v. McLean, 9 Wash. 301, 37 Pac. 317. The general rule, however, is that one co-tenant may not in his own partition suit, recover for improvements placed upon the common estate without the request and consent of his co-tenant. Bishop v. Lynch, 8 Wash 2d 278, 111 Pac 2d 996 (1941).

The final order of the trial awards Barth all of the cost of the improvements, and "enhanced value" of the property. This order determines the respective rights of the parties and is reviewable by this Court. Bishop, supra. (Partition reviewable without referee's report).

Basically, the award of the whole sum or cost of \$53,700.00 is inequitable and unfair to American. All other costs were divided equally. There is no reasonable reason for the offset of the entire amount and should be vacated by the trial court on remand and fixed at ½ of the \$53,700.00 - \$26,850.00. The present offset defeats the equitable rights of the co-tenant.

The trial court has great flexibility in fashioning equitable relief, but he who seeks equity must also do equity.

**D. AMERICAN SHOULD BE GRANTED
ATTORNEY'S FEES ON APPEAL
BASED UPON RCW 7.52.480.**

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