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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review in a Partition Action. 

In Washington State, appellate courts review partition orders for an 

abuse of discretion. Friend v. Friend, 92 Wn. App. 799, 803-04, 964 P.2d 
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1219 (1998), review denied, 13 7 Wn.2d 1030, 980 P .2d 1283 (1999). 

Partition is an equitable action. Kelsey v. Kelsey, 179 Wn. App. 

360,365,317 P.3d 1096 (2014) (citation omitted). An action to partition 

property is "both a right and a flexible equitable remedy subject to judicial 

discretion. The trial court is accorded great flexibility in fashioning relief 

under its equitable powers." Friend, 92 Wn. App. at 803 (citations 

omitted). As the Supreme Court noted: 

The great flexibility afforded to the courts in a partition action is 
indicated by a quotation from 2 Story's Equity Jurisprudence 
269 (14th ed. 1918), as follows: 
'. . . in all cases of partition a Court of Equity does not act 
merely in a ministerial character and in obedience to the call of 
the parties who have a right to the partition, but it founds itself 
upon its general jurisdiction as a Court of Equity, and 
administers its relief ex aequo et bono according to its own 
notions of general justice and equity between the parties.' 

Leinweber v. Leinweber, 63 Wn.2d 54, 56, 385 P.2d 556 (1963). 

A court abuses its discretion when "'its decision is not based on 

tenable grounds or tenable reasons. '" Kelsey, 179 Wn. App. at 365 

(citation omitted). Moreover, an abuse of discretion occurs if the trial 

court's ruling is manifestly unreasonable, or in other words, "no 

reasonable judge would take the position adopted by the trial court." 

Bauman v. Turpen, 139 Wn. App. 78, 93, 160 P.3d 1050 (2007). 

Here, a review of the trial court's decision under this exceedingly 

deferential standard is warranted because it involves an equitable remedy. 
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The trial court exercised its broad equitable powers in ordering a just 

distribution of the sale proceeds in this partition action. 

B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Awarding the 
Barths, Offsets or Charges Against the Interest of Co-tenant 
Patrick Hafey in the Property, Ahead of American Pension's 
Owelty Lien Claim. 

American Pension asserts that an owelty or equalizing lien cannot 

be impaired by partition and holds priority over all other claims to 

proceeds from a sale in partition. Specifically, American Pension 

contends that the trial court erred by distributing sale proceeds to the 

Barths, as offsets or charges against the share of Patrick Hafey, ahead of 

its owelty lien. 

The offsets claimed by the Barths against the half interest of co-

tenant Patrick Hafey in the Property, may be recognized as equitable liens 

and accorded priority ahead of the alleged owelty or equalizing lien. The 

trial court, in exercising its broad equitable powers in partition actions, 

distributed the sale proceeds in such a manner that provided a just 

resolution under the factual circumstances present in this case. As stated in 

the Amended Order, the trial court determined American Pension's owelty 

lien to be subordinate and lower in priority to the claims and offsets 

asserted by the Barth against the interest of Patrick Hafey in the Property. 

(CP 1-3) 
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As noted above, courts have '" great flexibility' in fashioning 

equitable relief for the parties" in a partition action. Friend, 92 Wn. App. 

at 365 (citation omitted). The courts have exercised broad powers with 

respect to liens against real property to provide equitable remedies. See, 

e.g., McKnight v. Basilides, 19 Wn.2d 391,408,143 P.2d 307 (1943) 

(imposing a lien against the proceeds of sale of one co-tenant in favor of 

the other cotenant for rents and attorney fees in a partition by sale); MGIC 

Financial Corp. v. H.A. Briggs Co., 24 Wn. App. 1, 6, 600 P.2d 573 

(1979) (discharging a lien of a deed of trust against real property on 

grounds of equity). 

Under the partition statute, RCW 7.52.220 provides for the 

distribution of sale proceeds in a partition action as follows: 

(1) to pay its just proportion of the general cost of the suit. 
(2) To pay the costs of the reference. 
(3) To satisfy the several liens in their order of priority, by 

payment of the sums due, and to become due, according to 
the decree 

(4) The residue among the owners of the property sold 
according to their respective shares. 

Although these statutory provisions provide the court with 

direction in the distribution of the proceeds of a sale, they do not limit a 

court's exercise of equitable powers to structure an appropriate remedy 

that is just and reasonable under the circumstances .. In other words, "a 

court in the exercise of its equitable powers may fashion remedies to 
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address the particular facts of each case, even if the partition statute does 

not strictly provide for such a remedy." Kelsey v. Kelsey, 179 Wn. App. 

360, 369, 317 P.3d 1096 (2014) (affirming trial cout's power to partition 

personal property in addition to real property under the partition statute, 

Chapter 7.52 RCW). 

The Washington Supreme Court's decision in McKnight, an action 

involving the partition of real property among co-tenants, is illustrative of 

the court's broad equitable powers. Following trial, the court entered a 

decree of partition, which provided plaintiffs with a judgment against the 

other co-tenant for rents and rental use of the property, and for attorney's 

fees. The decree further stated that the judgment amounts for rents and 

rental use of the property and attorney's fees each constituted a lien in 

favor of plaintiffs against the interest of the other co-tenant on the 

proceeds of the sale of the property. McKnight, 19 Wn.2d at 392. On 

appeal, an issue raised was whether a co-tenant was entitled to a lien upon 

another cotenant's interest in the property. The Supreme Court held that 

despite no express lien in the partition statue, the court may impose a lien 

upon another co-tenant's interest in the property, stating: 

Finally, it is argued that the court erred in impressing a lien 
upon the interest which appellant owned in the property. It is 
rule that no lien exists in favor of one cotenant against the share 
owned by the others. However, the court may, in the exercise of 
its equitable powers and in order to do full justice to all parties 
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concerned, impose a lien upon the interest in the property 
owned by the one who has benefitted by possession, and may 
provide for the payment of the judgment from the proceeds of 
the sale in a partition action. 14 AmJur. 107, Cotenancy, § 40. 

Id. at 408. This case stands for the proposition that although no express 

lien exists in favor of one-cotenant against share owned by other co-

tenants, a court may impose a lien upon interest owned by one who has 

benefited by possession and may provide for payment of judgment from 

proceeds of sale in a partition action. 

As in McKnight, the trial court here was entitled to impose a lien 

against a co-tenant and may provide for the payment of such from the 

proceeds of the sale in a partition action. In this case, Patrick Hafey 

exercised sole and exclusive control over the Property for 44 months and 

benefitted from his possession. Patrick Hafey also failed to maintain the 

Property to the detriment of the Barths. In order to do full justice, 

equitable liens in the form of offsets were imposed upon Patrick Hafey's 

half interest in the Property to provide a just result under the facts and 

circumstances of this case. The offsets against that interest included past 

rent, property taxes and insurance, and the enhanced value of the Property 

resulting from the sole efforts of the Barths. The trial court was well 

within its discretion to find these equitable liens or offsets superior to 

American Pension's owelty lien claim. 

14 



In its brief, American Pension does not address the equitable lien 

issue. American Pension simply asserts that its owelty lien should have 

priority under RCW 7.52.220 and should be paid out as part of the 

distribution of proceeds ahead of any offsets or equitable liens set forth by 

the Barths. However, as the trial court determined under its broad 

discretion, this would lead to an unjust and inequitable result. 

American Pension, as authority for its contention that the trial 

court erred by failing to give it priority in the distribution of sale proceeds, 

cites one Washington case, Hartley v. Liberty Park, 54 Wn. App. 434, 774 

P.2d 40 (1989). (Appellant's Brief, p. 9) Hartley involved lien priority as 

to the surplus proceeds in a non-judicial foreclosure of a deed of trust. 

In Hartley, pursuant to the dissolution decree, the court awarded 

the Issaquah property to the wife subject to the husband's lien in the 

amount of $40,000 payable upon sale of the property, or 24 months from 

the date of decree of dissolution. The court noted that "[a] sum of money 

paid in the case of partition of unequal proportions for the purpose of 

equalizing the portions is an owelty, and may be allowed as a lien on the 

excessIve allotment if payment cannot be made at once." Id. at 437 

(citations omitted). The Court of Appeals, in awarding the former 

husband surplus proceeds following a nonjudicial foreclosure of a home 

owned by his former wife, held that the dissolution decree awarding 
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husband $40,000 to equalize the distribution of the family home awarded 

to wife in dissolution proceedings amounted to an owelty which became a 

lien on the property upon filing of the dissolution decree and was senior to 

deed of trusts former wife later executed. 

Hartley, however, has no application to this case as it did not 

involve a court exercising its equitable powers with regards to the priority 

of liens in a partition action. Furthermore, unlike in Hartley, the Property 

at issue in this case is not the foreclosed upon Former Family Home 

(12020 52nd Ave. S.E., Everett, Washington) that was subject to the 

divorce owelty or equalizing lien (and secured by a note and deed of trust 

against the Former Family Home). Rather, the Property at issue in this 

partition action is the Property inherited by Patrick Hafey and Sandra 

Barth, located 3017 120th PI. SE, Everett, Washington. In fact, American 

Pension already recovered surplus proceeds ($44,253.00) in a separate 

action involving the non-judicial deed of trust foreclosure of the Former 

Former Family Home. 

As additional authority, American Pension cites four older cases 

from out-of-state jurisdictions (Reed v. Fidelity Ins. Trust & S.D. Co., 113 

Pa. 574,6 A. 163 (1886); Stewart v. Allegheny Nat. Bank, 101 Pa.342 

(1882); Pace v. Shields-Geise Lumber Co., 147 Ga. 36, 92 S.E. 755 

(1917); Smith v. Smith, 206 Okla. 206, 242 P.2d 436 (1952)) to support its 
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contention that "valid judgment liens cannot be impaired by partition of a 

co-tenancy." (Appellants' Brief, p. 7) These cases are not applicable to 

the facts or circumstances here. American Pension fails to demonstrate 

that these cases are persuasive authority to support its claim of priority, 

either factually or legally. These cases do not support American Pension's 

argument that its owelty lien is superior in priority to the claims and 

offsets asserted by the Barths against Patrick Hafey's interest in the 

Property. 

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that American 

Pension's owelty lien was subordinate and lower in priority to the Barths' 

equitable liens and claims of offsets against the one-half interest of Patrick 

Hafey in the Property. 

C. The Trial Court did Not Abuse its Discretion by Awarding to the 
Barths, as an Offset or Charge Against the Interest of Co-tenant 
Patrick Hafey, One-half of the Reasonable Rental Value of the 
Property Due Upon Ouster or Active Exclusion from the Property. 

The trial court correctly charged the interest of co-tenant Patrick 

Hafey in the Property with a rental value offset of one-half the reasonable 

rental value ($30,653.63) during the time period of ouster or active 

exclusion (November 2009 through June 20, 2013).1 

1 In its brief, American Pension claims that "[t]he trial court initially refused to allow any 
monies to be paid to American out of the sales proceeds even though Barth recognized 
and agreed to pay $3,646.74." (Appellant's Brief, p. 11). There is nothing in the record 
supporting this assertion that the Barths agreed to pay American Pension $3,646.74. 
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The rule related to rental liability among co-tenants, as stated by 

the Supreme Court in Cummings v. Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 135, 614 P.2d 

1283 (1980), follows: 

It is the rule in Washington that, in the absence of an agreement 
to pay rent, or limiting or assigning rights of occupancy, a 
cotenant in possession who has not ousted or actively 
excluded the cotenant is not liable for rent based upon his 
occupancy of the premises. 

Id. at 145 (citing Fulton v. Fulton, 57 Wn.2d 331, 357 P.2d 169 (1960) 

(emphasis added). In its brief, American Pension cites the above 

Washington rule as authority in part, but disregards the exception under 

the general rule stated in the bolded portion of the above-quoted statement 

(for ouster or active exclusion), and supported by the record in this case. 

(Appellant's Brief, p. 11) Furthermore, as the court stated in Fulton: 

The rule of law adhered to in a great majority of American 
jurisdictions with regard to a cotenant's liability for personal 
use and occupancy of common property is set forth in an 
annotation in 51 A.L.R.2d at page 413 as follows: ' ... absent 
statute construed to work a different result . . . a tenant in 
common, joint tenant or coparcener who has enjoyed occupancy 
of the common premises or some part thereof is not liable to 
pay rent to the others therefor, or to account to them respecting 
the reasonable value of his occupancy, where they have not 
been ousted or excluded nor their equal rights denied, and no 
agreement to pay for occupancy, or limiting or assigning rights 
of occupancy, has been entered into.' (italics ours.) 

Fulton, 57 Wn.2d at 334-35. 

Accordingly, when a non-occupying co-tenant has been ousted or 
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actively excluded from the property, such co-tenant is entitled to receive a 

share of the rent from the occupying co-tenant. See, e.g., Cummings v. 

Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 135, 614 P.2d 1283 (1980). Ouster "does not 

necessarily mean the possessor has to force or keep them off the land, but 

it does mean he has to have exclusive possession and has to engage in acts 

or words, or both, that clearly show he claims to hold in his sole right and 

not as co-tenant." 17 William B. Stoebuck, Wash. Prac.: Real Estate: 

Property Law § 1.31, at 70 (2004) (citations omitted). 

In this case, the trial court record is replete with evidence of ouster 

and exclusion from the Property by co-tenant Patrick Hafey. The facts 

demonstrating ouster and active exclusion in this case are set forth in the 

Declaration of Thomas Barth dated April 28, 2014 (CP 86-97). Beginning 

in November 2009, Patrick Hafey stopped responding to the Barths' phone 

calls and letters to address the Property. Due to the costs of travel, the 

distance, and the ill health of Sandra Barth, the Barths had limited 

opportunities to travel from Minnesota to Washington. When the Barths 

traveled to Everett, Washington in September 2011 to speak with Patrick 

Hafey in person about the Property, he was angry at the Barths for 

showing up at his residence and refused to discuss the Property. The 

Barths wanted to rent or sell the Property and gain access to the Property 

for those purposes. Patrick Hafey, by his actions, omissions, and 
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occupation of the Everett Property, asserted an ownership of the Property 

to the exclusion of the Barths. (CP 86-97) 

No evidence in the record disputes the Barths' assertions related to 

their encounters of hostile intent and acts of exclusive ownership by co

tenant Patrick Hafey. The undisputed facts and evidence support that the 

Barths were ousted and actively excluded from the Property by co-tenant 

Patrick Hafey beginning in November 2009. In fact, it took the issuance 

of a Writ of Assistance/Ejectment by the court and enforcement by the 

Snohomish County Sheriffs Office for the Barths to regain entry to the 

Property on June 20, 2013. 

Courts have determined that the fairest method is to charge the co

tenant with its share of the reasonable rental value. See, e.g., Yakavonis, 

93 Wn. App. at 310-11. Since the occupying cotenant, Patrick Hafey 

committed ouster beginning in November 2009, Patrick Hafey began to 

owe rent at that time to the Barths. At the trial court, American Pension 

did not dispute the testimony regarding the fair rental value of the Property 

during this timeframe ($1,337 per month from November 2009 through 

June 2011 and $1,461.00 per month from July 2011 to June 20,2013). 

(CP 67-70) At that rate, the fair market rental value of the Property from 

November 2009 through June 20, 2013 was $61,307.26. The Barths one

half share of the reasonable rental value during this time period amounts to 
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$30,653.63. 

In its brief, American Pension cites four cases as authority to 

support nothing more than a general principle of possession in co-tenancy, 

referring to an old term "moiety". Moiety is simply defined as "the half of 

anything." BLACK'S LA W DICTIONARY 1005 (6 th ed. 1990). This principle 

means "that each tenant in common of a possessory estate is entitled to 

possession, equally with his co-tenants, of all parts of the land at all 

times." 17 William B. Stoebuck, Wash. Prac. : Real Estate: Property Law § 

1.28, at 57-58 (2004). In this case, the record supports that co-tenant 

Patrick Hafey ousted and excluded the Barths from the Property. 

As additional authority, American Pension cites a 1960 California 

case, Hunter v. Schultz, 24 Cal.App.2d 24 (1966) for the proposition that 

it disallows rent claimed in a partition like Washington. That case, 

however, is not factually similar nor is it persuasive authority. In fact, the 

Washington Court of Appeals, Division One, in Yakavonis v. Tilton, 93 

Wn. App. 304,968 P.2d 908 (1998), declined to follow the Hunter case, in 

finding that an equitable defense of a rental value offset prior to ouster 

does not apply. 

The determinative issue under consideration at the trial court for 

co-tenant rental liability was whether or not the Barths had been ousted or 

actively excluded from the Property by co-tenant Patrick Hafey. 
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American Pension has not contested any of the facts in this case related to 

ouster or active exclusion nor has it contested or even addressed the legal 

basis for rent due upon ouster or active exclusion. The record does not 

support American Pension's assertion that the Barths' claim for rent is 

improper and should not be allowed. 

A court "will not consider issues on appeal that are not raised by 

an assignment of error or are not supported by argument and citation to 

authority." McKee v. Am. Home Prods. Corp. , 113 Wn.2d 701, 705, 782 

P.2d 1045 (1989) (citation omitted); RAP IO.3(a)(4) and (6). Since 

American Pension does not set forth any argument, assignment of error, or 

legal authority addressing the ouster or active exclusion exception for co

tenant rental liability, American Pension's claim should not be considered. 

In this case, American Pension did not address the issue of ouster 

or active exclusion by co-tenant Patrick Hafey, nor does the appellant 

question the amount so charged for the reasonable rental value of the 

Property. The trial court did not abuse its discretion, under its broad 

equitable powers, by charging one-half of the reasonable rental value 

($30,653 .63) during the time period of ouster and active exclusion as an 

offset against the interest of Patrick Hafey in the Property. 
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D. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Awarding to the 
Barths, as an Offset or Charge Against the Interest of Co-tenant 
Patrick Hafey in the Property, the Full Enhanced Value of the 
Property Resulting from the Barths' Sole Efforts, Labor, and 
Expenditures. 

The trial court's Amended Order disbursing sale proceeds provided 

that "Plaintiffs are to be distributed out of the one-half interest of 

Defendant Hafey the enhanced value of the Property which was the result 

of Plaintiffs' sole efforts, expenditures, and labor in repairing and 

improving the Property: $53,700." (CP 1-3) 

In its discretion, a court in a partition action is entitled to award a 

co-tenant the enhanced value of the property. The Supreme Court in 

Cummings stated, "[t]he rule is that improvements placed upon the 

property by one cotenant cannot be charged against the other cotenant 

unless they were either necessary or actually enhanced the value of the 

property." Cummings v. Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 135, 144, 614 P.2d 1283 

(1980) (citing In re Estate of Foster, 139 Wn. 224, 246 P. 290 (1926». 

Furthermore, the court in Cummings noted: 

The equitable principle involved in these cases is in harmony 
with the rule that while a cotenant cannot at his own suit 
recover for improvements placed upon the common estate 
without the request or consent of his cotenant, yet a court of 
equity, in a partition suit, will give the cotenant the fruits of 
his industry and expenditures, by allotting to him the parcel so 
enhanced in value or so much thereof as represents his share of 
the whole tract. That rule is stated and followed in Bishop v. 
Lynch, 9 Wash.2d 278, 111 P.2d 996 (1941), citing A. Freeman, 
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Cotenancy and Partition § 509 (2d ed. 1886). 

Id. at 141-42 (emphasis added). This principle reflects the just concept 

that "a cotenant should not be permitted to take inequitable advantage of 

another's investment." Id. at 142. Furthermore, this principle of law was 

not only addressed in Bishop, but also noted by the court in Leake v. 

Hayes, 13 Wn. 213,43 P. 48 (1895): 

While it is a well-settled general rule of law that one tenant in 
common cannot at his own suit, recover for improvements 
placed upon the common estate without the request or consent 
of his cotenant, yet a court of equity will not, 'if it can avoid so 
inequitable a result, enable a cotenant to take advantage of the 
improvements for which he has contributed nothing .... 

Additionally, in a recent case addressing enhanced value, the court stated: 

If one cotenant improves property, the trial court has discretion 
to reimburse him or her for the improvement value. See 
Leinweber, 63 Wash.2d at 58, 385 P.2d 556 (cotenant could 
recover 'the benefits created by the sweat of his brow (the 
enhanced valuation realized upon the partition sale),' preventing 
a windfall to the other cotenants.) 

Kelsey v. Kelsey, 179 Wn. App. 360, 365, 317 P.3d 1096 (2014). 

In its brief, American Pension cites Bishop v. Lynch, 8 Wn.2d 278, 

III P .2d 996 (1941) for the proposition that "[t]he general rule, however, 

is that one co-tenant may not in his own partition suit, recover for 

improvements placed upon the common estate without the request and 

consent of his co-tenant." (Appellant's Brief, p. 12) Although the case of 

Bishop involved an agreement that respondent would build a dwelling on 
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a portion of the later partitioned property (which respondent was awarded 

the benefit of the improvements which she had placed upon the property), 

it does not stand for a general rule requiring the request and consent of a 

co-tenant in order to recover for improvements. 

In the instant case, the trial court had the discretion under its 

equitable powers to award the Barths the enhanced value of the Property 

from the sale proceeds, as an offset or charge against the interest of co

tenant Patrick Hafey. The enhanced value resulted from the investment of 

money, time and labor solely by the Barths. Co-tenant Patrick Hafey in no 

way contributed to the improvements of the Property. (CP 86-97) 

The record supports a finding that the added value to the Property 

was directly contributable to and the result of the significant investment of 

expenditures and labor by the Barths and their two sons in 2013, prior to 

placing it on the market for sale. (CP 67-70, 86-97). In his Declaration 

dated April 28, 2014, Thomas Barth summarizes the repair and 

improvement work. (CP 86-97). 

The Barths ' investment of money and labor turned a property in 

disrepair into a quality home, which sold in short time at the full asking 

price of $246,200. (CP 67-70) The Barths' improvements enhanced the 

valuation of the Property, which was realized upon the partition sale of the 

Property. In other words, had the work by the Barths not been completed, 
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the Property would have sold for around $192,500 (it sold for $246,200). 

(CP 67-70) The evidence at the trial court that the Barths' improvements 

added $53,7000 in value to the Property is not rebutted, disputed, or 

contested in any manner by American Pension. (CP 67-70) 

The other co-tenant (or, in this case, the owelty lien holder 

attempting to claim all of the co-tenants interest) should not be allowed to 

take inequitable advantage of the fruits of the Barths' expenditures and 

industry. The trial court was well within its discretion to award, under the 

factual circumstances presented, the full enhanced value of the Property. 

E. Appellant American Pension Services, Inc. is Not Entitled to 
Attorney's Fees on Appeal. 

Finally, American Pension requests an award of attorney's fees on 

appeal citing RCW 7.52.480. RCW 7.52.480 governs the apportionment of 

costs for partition actions, and provides: 

The cost of partition, including fees of referees and other 
disbursements including reasonable attorney fees to be fixed by 
the court and in case the land is ordered sold, costs of an 
abstract of title, shall be paid by the parties respectively entitled 
to share in the lands divided, in proportion to their respective 
interests therein, and may be included and specified in the 
decree. In that case there shall be a lien on the several shares, 
and the decree may be enforced by execution against the parties 
separately. When, however, a litigation arises between some of 
the parties only, the court may require the expense of such 
litigation to be paid by the parties thereto, or any of them. 

In Hamilton v. Huggins, 70 Wn. App. 842, 855 P.2d 1216 (1993), 
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a partition action, the trial court could not charge one of the owners with 

attorney's fees that were not for the common benefit of the parties 

involved in the partition. American Pension is basing its claim as a lien 

creditor. However, American Pension cannot show that it is acting for the 

common benefit of parties of interest and should not be awarded 

attorney's fees on appeal. 

F. Appendix A to the Brief of Appellant American Pension Should be 
Stricken. 

American Pension submitted an Appendix A to its brief that 

inaccurately attempts to summarize how the sale proceeds ($219,348.07) 

deposited into the registry of the Court were disbursed. Appendix A 

includes an item labeled "Costs of Fix Up" and there was no disbursement 

of funds identified in the record as such. In its Amended Order the Court 

authorized a disbursement for the "enhanced value" in the total amount of 

$53,700. (CP 1-3) The funds labeled "enhanced value" were not split 

with American Pension as indicated in Appendix A. 

RAP 10.3(a)(8) provides that an appendix may not include 

materials not contained in the record on review. Accordingly, Appendix A 

should be excluded because it contains items that are not in the record and 

that are inaccurately described. The Court's Amended Order accurately 

describes how the funds in the registry of the Court were disbursed and 

27 



.. ". . 

there is no need for Appendix A. 

v. CROSS-APPEAL

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